NO. 71298-5-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
DARRELL MORGAN,
Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY
The Honorable Marybeth Dingledy, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KEVIN A. MARCH Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. INTRODUCTION

During Darrell Lewis Morgan's trial, Detective Karen Kowalchyk was caught by defense counsel attempting to read Morgan's notes to his lawyer. Despite this egregious conduct, the trial court merely excluded Kowalchyk's testimony but permitted her to remain and assist the prosecutor. Although the trial court eventually admonished Kowalchyk not to speak with any of the State's witnesses, this admonition only came after Kowalchyk had already spoken with Detective Aaron De Folo, who later testified. Because this inadequate remedy did not isolate the misconduct's prejudice, this court must reverse Morgan's conviction and remand with instructions to dismiss this prosecution. At the very least, remand is required for the trial court to determine whether the State met its burden of proving a lack of prejudice beyond a reasonable doubt.

The trial court and the State also were confused about the elements of second degree possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct. The evidence showed Cynthia Ocheltree took photographs of her granddaughter showering to use in a scrapbook. The court and State believed that Morgan was guilty if he possessed and was sexually stimulated by those photos. However, to prove a minor is engaged in sexually explicit conduct, the State must prove the creator of the photos created them to sexually stimulate the viewer. Because the evidence was insufficient to

show the photos in Morgan's possession were created for the purpose of sexual stimulation, the evidence did not show the minor depicted in the photographs was engaged in sexually explicit conduct. Because no rational juror could find Morgan guilty of possession of prohibited depictions, this court must accordingly reverse Morgan's conviction and remand for dismissal of the charge with prejudice.

Short of dismissal, Morgan is entitled to a new trial for two reasons. First, the trial court admitted sexually explicit photographs of nonminors in Morgan's possession to demonstrate he possessed the photographs of a nude minor for the purpose of sexual stimulation. But these additional photographs did not establish that photographs of a nude minor were taken for the purpose of the viewer's sexual stimulation and were therefore irrelevant and unduly prejudicial.

Second, the defense theorized the photographs in question were taken for a scrapbook, not sexual stimulation. However, when counsel tried to make this closing argument, the trial court opined that this theory constituted an inaccurate statement of the law and sustained the State's objection. The trial court thereby deprived Morgan of his right to present a defense and to effective counsel.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The State's lead witness, Detective Karen Kowalchyk, was caught looking at Morgan's notes to his attorney as he wrote them during trial. The trial court erred in declining to dismiss this case with prejudice, in permitting Kowalchyk to remain at counsel table to assist the prosecutor, and in untimely instructing Kowalchyk not to communicate with another witness after Kowalchyk had already done so.
- The trial court failed to consider the remedy for government misconduct under the appropriate standard, which requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Morgan was not prejudiced by the detective's misconduct.
- 3. It was not disputed that Morgan possessed nude photographs of a female minor. But the evidence did not show the photos were taken for the purpose of the viewer's sexual stimulation. Accordingly, there was insufficient evidence that the minor in the photos was engaged in sexually explicit conduct.
- 4. The trial court erred in admitting exhibits 13, 13A, 17-19, 21, 23, 37-38, and 44 into evidence because this evidence was irrelevant and unduly prejudicial. That Morgan had pornographic images of adults and pictures of clothed children did not tend to demonstrate the photographs at issue were taken for the purpose of sexual stimulation.

5. The trial court erred in sustaining an objection during the defense closing when counsel argued that the photos were taken for a scrapbook, not for the purpose of sexual stimulation.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- When a State's detective attempts to read the defendant's notes to his attorney, does it constitute government misconduct and is the presumptive remedy dismissal with prejudice?
- 2. The trial court properly found there was government misconduct and properly excluded the detective's testimony. Did the court nonetheless err by allowing the detective to remain in the courtroom and to communicate with another government witness before that witness testified?
- 3. When the trial court does not fashion a remedy for government misconduct by placing the burden on the State to prove a lack of prejudice beyond a reasonable doubt, is remand required for the trial court to fashion a remedy under the correct standard?
- 4. Was the evidence insufficient to prove the photos depicted a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct when the evidence did not show the photos were taken for the purpose of the viewer's sexual stimulation?

- 5. Can the sex lives and/or sexual preferences of the accused, and the person who takes nude photographs of a minor, provide sufficient evidence that such photographs were taken for the purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer?
- 6. Over objection, the trial court allowed the state to admit sexually explicit images of adults, and non-sexually explicit images of children. Did the trial court err when it found that legally possessed images were relevant to the question of whether nude photos were taken for the purpose of sexual stimulation?
- 7. Was admission of the legally possessed images unduly prejudicial because of the potential to inflame and confuse the jury?
- 8. Does a trial court, in prohibiting a defense argument that photographs were taken for an innocent purpose, not for the purpose of the viewer's sexual stimulation deprive Morgan of his right to present a defense and right to effective counsel?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual background

Morgan's employer, the Boeing Company, began investigating Morgan's Internet and computer activities after it noticed Morgan was using the Internet at work more than authorized by corporate policy. CP 118; 2RP¹ 363, 427. As part of this investigation, Boeing used monitoring software to observe Morgan's activities. CP 118; 2RP 368-69.

On April 26, 2012, a Boeing investigator monitored Morgan's phone, which was connected to Morgan's computer via the USB port as the "F" drive. The investigator noticed several photos of a nude young female child, A.S., as she showered. CP 117-18; 2RP 372-73. The investigator was alarmed and copied the F drive to preserve the images. 2RP 373.

On the same day, the investigator observed a text conversation between Morgan and his wife, Melissa Morgan. CP 118; 2RP 389. Morgan wrote, "I truly wish you shared some of the dark desires Cyndy^[2] and I do." CP 118; 2RP 390. Morgan also asked Melissa, "The corruption of an innocent doesn't hold appeal to you," to which Melissa responded, "No, it doesn't. Sorry." CP 118; 2RP 390-91. Morgan proceeded to describe "shower pics" of an "[i]nnocent" he obtained off a noncommercial site on the Internet. CP 118; 2RP 391. Several hours later, Melissa wrote, "As I said, not personally good with younger than 12, but have no problems with what you two like," to which Morgan replied, "Good." 2RP 392.

 $^{^1}$ This brief will cite the verbatim reports of proceedings as follows: 1RP – April 26, 2013; 2RP – October 14, 15, 16, 17, and 18, 2013; 3RP – October 18, 2013 (verdict); 4RP – December 16, 2013.

² "Cyndy" referred to Cynthia Ocheltree, who took the photos. She was A.S.'s grandmother and Morgan's live-in girlfriend. CP 119; 2RP 498.

On May 2, 2012, Everett Detectives Karen Kowalchyk and Aaron De Folo went to Boeing to interview Morgan regarding the photos. CP 118; 2RP 447. Morgan agreed to a recorded interview. CP 118; 2RP 448. Morgan admitted possessing photos of A.S. CP 118; Ex. 81 (audio recording of interview). Morgan would not say who sent him the photos but "identif[ied] the girl in the photographs as the granddaughter of his girlfriend," Ocheltree. CP 118. Morgan also confirmed that he, his wife Melissa, and Ocheltree were in an intimate relationship with one another. CP 118.

Detective Kowalchyk spoke to Ocheltree by telephone on May 2, 2012. CP 119. Ocheltree confirmed she took the photos. CP 119; 2RP 512. Ocheltree stated she sent the photos to Morgan to free up space on her phone and intended the photos for a Mother's Day scrapbook for A.S.'s mother. CP 119; 2RP 512, 515.

Detective De Folo also interviewed A.S., who was unaware that anyone took photos of her in the shower. CP 119; 2RP 454.

On December 21, 2012, the State charged Morgan with one count of second degree possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct pursuant to RCW 9.68A.070(2) and RCW 9.68A.011(4)(f). CP 121.

2. Pretrial proceedings

After a CrR 3.5 hearing, the trial court ruled that Morgan's statements from his interview with Kowalchyk and De Folo were admissible. CP 105; 1RP 49.

Before trial, Morgan moved to dismiss the charges pursuant to Knapstad.³ CP 106-16. Morgan argued from several cases that the photos had to be created for the purpose of sexual stimulation and that there was no evidence Ocheltree took the photos for the purpose of the viewer's sexual stimulation. The depictions therefore did not constitute sexually explicit conduct as defined by RCW 9.68A.011(4)(f). CP 112; 1RP 7-9.

At oral argument on the <u>Knapstad</u> motion, the State noted the statutory definition of "sexually explicit conduct" had changed from "exhibition of the genitals or unclothed pubic or rectal areas of any minor" to "depiction of the genitals or unclothed pubic or rectal areas of any minor." 1RP 14-15. The State asserted this change in language meant the court must "start over again with respect to what does the statute mean," and could not rely on the cases cited in Morgan's <u>Knapstad</u> motion. ⁴ 2RP 13-14. The trial

³ State v. Knapstad, 107 Wn.2d 346, 729 P.2d 48 (1986).

⁴ Morgan cited <u>State v. Whipple</u>, 144 Wn. App. 654, 183 P.3d 1105 (2008), <u>State v. Griffith</u>, 129 Wn. App. 482, 120 P.3d 610 (2005), <u>State v. Grannis</u>, 84 Wn. App. 546, 930 P.2d 327 (1997), <u>abrogated in part by LAWS OF 2010</u>, CH. 227, § 3(4)(f), <u>State v. Chester</u>, 82 Wn. App. 422, 918 P.2d 514 (1996), and <u>State v. Myers</u>, 82 Wn. App. 435, 918 P.2d 183 (1996), in his <u>Knapstad</u> motion for the

court agreed that "depiction has a different meaning." 2RP 18. The trial court also believed "the defense argument is circular, because the defense argument is that it can't be sexually explicit conduct unless it meets the definition, but then goes on to ignore the fact that the definition has been changed." 2RP 18. The trial court concluded, "if we were operating with the word, exhibition, as opposed to depiction, there would be a radically different result" and denied the Knapstad motion. 2RP 18-19. Neither the State nor the trial court made any attempt to interpret the actual language in the amended statute and rested their conclusions solely on the fact that the definition had changed.

3. Trial

The trial established facts generally conforming to the above recitation.

On the trial's second day, defense counsel caught Detective Kowalchyk looking at Morgan's legal pad as he wrote notes to defense counsel. CP 82-83. Defense counsel watched Kowalchyk's eyes scan down the page on which Morgan was writing. CP 83. Based on this misconduct, Morgan moved for dismissal. CP 80-90.

proposition that Ocheltree had to take the photos for the sexual stimulation of the viewer for the photos to constitute "sexually explicit conduct." CP 108-12. Although one word in the statutory definition of "sexually explicit conduct" has changed, these cases continue to demonstrate the appropriate focus is on whether a depiction of a minor was created for the purpose of sexual stimulation.

The trial court heard Kowalchyk's testimony. She admitted she was looking at defense counsel's table, but claimed she was not trying to read anything and could not read the notes even had she wanted to because she was too far away. 2RP 236-38.

Defense counsel testified in response. 2RP 242-45. She said, "I observed her, to the best of my recollection, scanning the notepad. I watched her eyes move down the notepad. She was not looking at any other part of counsel table." 2RP 247. Counsel "estimate[d] that she looked at that notepad for at least three, maybe more like five or six seconds before she then looked up, saw me watching her and looked away." 2RP 247.

The State recalled Kowalchyk in rebuttal. In response to the State's question about whether there was a valid reason to observe Morgan's demeanor, Kowalchyk said, "being a police officer, I'm always looking at everybody and everything that people are doing. You know, the fact is we're sitting right next to each other. I'm the detective in the case and he's, you know, the subject in the case." 2RP 250-51.

The court was "very concerned" by Kowalchyk's conduct and found "it hard to believe that she wouldn't know she's not supposed to look at a defendant's notebook." 2RP 271. Nonetheless, the court declined to dismiss the case. 2RP 271. Instead, the court thought "an appropriate remedy would be to exclude Detective Kowalchyk from testifying in this case. So that is

my ruling." 2RP 271. However, the trial court permitted Detective Kowalchyk to remain in the courtroom to assist the deputy prosecutor. 2RP 308. The trial court also "indicate[d]... that Detective Kowalchyk is not to communicate about... the substance of this case with other folks that might be testifying." 2RP 305-06. However, Kowalchyk had already taken an opportunity to communicate with Detective De Folo, who later testified. 2RP 306, 443-61.

During trial, the court admitted several sexually explicit or nude images of adults, and images of clothed children, found on Morgan's phone. Exs. 13, 13A, 17-19, 21, 23, 37-38, 44; 2RP 105, 113, 385, 388, 404-07. Defense counsel objected, arguing they were irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial under ER 401, ER 402, and ER 403. 2RP 104-15, 285-305, 308-31. The State contended the images demonstrated that Morgan and Ocheltree were in a "sexualized relationship" and showed that Morgan stored sexually explicit images in the same place he stored the photos of A.S. 2RP 292-93, 304, 322.

After the close of the State's evidence, Morgan moved for dismissal under Green.⁵ CP 64-69; 2RP 520-21. As with the <u>Knapstad</u> motion, Morgan argued there was no evidence Ocheltree took the photos for the purpose of sexual stimulation and therefore the photos did not portray

⁵ State v. Green, 91 Wn.2d 431, 588 P.2d 1370 (1979).

sexually explicit conduct. CP 68-69; 2RP 521. As with the <u>Knapstad</u> motion, the State asserted the 2010 amendment to RCW 9.68A.011 indicates "that that type of proof about the sender or initiator is not required." 2RP 522. The trial court ruled, "I think there's a chance that a rational trier of fact could find that she took these pictures for purposes of sexual gratification and that's why they were sent. So I will deny the <u>Green</u> motion." 2RP 525.

Prior to closing arguments, defense counsel said she "still intend[ed] to argue what [she] believe[d] was the correct state of the law, that [a depiction of a nude minor] has to be made for the purpose of sexual stimulation for the viewer." 2RP 545. With this understanding, defense counsel believed she should be able "to argue that [A.S.]'s unclothed depiction of her genitals was not for the purpose of the sexual stimulation of the viewer; that it was for the purpose of a scrapbook." 2RP 547. However, the prosecutor objected, claiming this was "an inaccurate statement of the law." 2RP 545. The State argued, and the trial court agreed, that whether depictions of a minor constituted sexually explicit conduct was "all from the viewer's perspective, not the initiator or the contributor or the photographer." 2RP 546.

In closing, defense counsel argued, "this is about whether or not [A.S.] was engaged in sexually explicit conduct. This about whether or not the nude picture was for the purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer, and that wasn't the purpose at all. The purpose was for a scrapbook." 2RP 562. The State objected to this statement as a misstatement of the law, and the trial court sustained the objection. 2RP 562.

4. Conviction, sentence, and appeal

The jury returned a verdict of guilty to the crime of "Possession of Depictions of a Minor Engaged in Sexually Explicit Conduct." CP 40⁶; 3RP 2-3. The trial court sentenced Morgan to a seven-month sentence with the possibility of work release depending on the outcome of a sexual deviancy evaluation. CP 5-6; 4RP 16-17. The trial court also imposed a 12-month term of community custody with several conditions and \$600 in legal financial obligations. CP 6, 8, 14-16; 4RP 18-19.

This timely appeal follows. CP 1.

D. ARGUMENT

1. DETECTIVE KOWALCHYK'S EGREGIOUS CONDUCT WARRANTS DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE

During trial, Detective Kowalchyk looked at Morgan's legal pad on which he had written notes and questions to his lawyer. This egregious government conduct presumptively prejudiced Morgan. This court should

⁶ The verdict form does not indicate the possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct was in the second degree. CP 40; 3RP 1. However, the trial court only instructed the jury on the definition of sexually explicit conduct in RCW 9.68A.011(4)(f), which may only lawfully sustain a second degree conviction. CP 51; RCW 9.68A.070(2).

reverse Morgan's conviction and remand for dismissal of the charge with prejudice.

These facts are remarkably similar to those in State v. Granacki, 90 Wn. App. 598, 959 P.2d 667 (1998). There, the State's lead detective was caught looking at the top page of defense counsel's legal pad, which contained notes distilling communications between counsel and Granacki. Id. at 600. The trial court in Granacki, relying on State v. Cory, 62 Wn.2d 371, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963), "noted that intrusion by the state into a defendant's privileged communications with counsel violates not only the defendant's right to effective representation by counsel, but his right to be protected against unreasonable searches and to due process of law." Granacki, 90 Wn. App. at 602. Thus, the trial court determined that "where the State intrudes on a defendant's right to effective representation by intercepting privileged communications between an attorney and his [or her] client, the only adequate remedy is dismissal." Id. "This is because there is no meaningful way to isolate the prejudice resulting from such interference even if a new trial is granted." Id. at 603.

Despite <u>Cory</u>'s strong language that dismissal of the prosecution should be the presumptive remedy in cases of government misconduct, the <u>Granacki</u> court analyzed the remedy under an abuse of discretion standard. <u>Granacki</u>, 90 Wn. App. at 604. Given this standard of review, the <u>Granacki</u>

court indicated that "the trial court may properly choose to impose a lesser sanction because this is a classic example of trial court discretion." <u>Id.</u> The court further explained, "Had the court chosen to ban Detective Kelly from the courtroom, exclude his testimony[,] and prohibit him from discussing the case with anyone, we would not find an abuse of its discretion." <u>Id.</u>

Turning to Detective Kowalchyk's misconduct, it is more egregious than the conduct at issue in <u>Granacki</u>. Kowalchyk looked not at defense counsel's notes distilling attorney-client communications when the defendant and defense counsel were absent, but directly at the notes Morgan was writing to his lawyer as he wrote them. CP 82-83; 2RP 239-40, 247, 254. Such a direct and personal invasion of Morgan's communications with his attorney necessarily undermined any confidence that his communications would remain free of State intrusion. Moreover, rather than conceding that Kowalchyk's actions constituted misconduct as the State did in <u>Granacki</u>, the deputy prosecutor suggested defense counsel's motion to dismiss was "a tactic with a result in mind, that being a mistrial and all the attendant inefficiencies that are associated with that." 2RP 242. The State's attempt to shift blame for its own serious misconduct is astonishing.

Following the parties' arguments regarding the appropriate remedy, the trial court stated,

It's extremely concerning to this court that a detective is looking over at a notebook in front of a defendant. Somebody with the experience that Detective Kowalchyk has should know that she can't look at a notebook with defendant's writing on it. And I guess I find it hard to believe that she wouldn't know she's not supposed to look at a defendant's notebook.

1

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