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

III. ARGUMENT 

A. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE. 

Defendant argues the evidence was insufficient to support 

his conviction for second degree possession of depictions of a 

minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct; specifically, that no 

rational finder of fact could find that Ocheltree photographed AS for 

the purpose of sexual stimulation. Brief of Appellant 17-25. 

1. Legal Standard. 

Sufficiency of the evidence is a question of constitutional 

magnitude which a defendant may raise for the first time on appeal. 

State v. Alvarez, 128 Wn.2d 1, 10,904 P.2d 754 (1995); State v. 

Atterton, 81 Wn. App. 470, 472, 915 P.2d 535 (1996). When 

reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, the court 

determines whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most 
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favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have 

found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable 

doubt. State v. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311,336,150 P.3d 59 (2006). 

All reasonable inferences are drawn in the prosecution's favor and 

interpreted most strongly against the defendant. State v. Hosier, 

157 Wn.2d 1, 8, 133 P.3d 936 (2006). "A claim of insufficiency 

admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that 

reasonably can be drawn therefrom." State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 

192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Circumstantial evidence and 

direct evidence are equally reliable. State v. Goodman, 150 Wn.2d 

774,781,83 P.3d 410 (2004). Evidence favoring the defendant is 

not considered. State v. Randecker, 79 Wn.2d 512, 521,487 P.2d 

1295 (1971) (negative effect of defendant's explanation on State's 

case not considered); State v. Jackson, 62 Wn. App. 53, 58 n. 2, 

813 P.2d 156 (1991) (defense evidentiary inference cannot be used 

to attack sufficiency of evidence to convict). The court need not be 

convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; it is 

sufficient that substantial evidence supports the State's case. State 

v. Fiser, 99 Wn. App. 714, 718, 995 P.2d 107 (2000). Credibility 

determinations are for the trier of fact and cannot be reviewed on 

appeal. State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 
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(1990). The court must defer to the trier of fact on issues of 

conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the 

persuasiveness of the evidence. State v. Walton, 64 Wn. App. 410, 

415-416,824 P.2d 533 (1992). 

2. Possession Of Depictions Of A Minor Engaged In Sexually 
Explicit Conduct. 

RCW 9.68A.070(2)(a) states: 

A person commits the crime of possession of 
depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit 
conduct in the second degree when he or she 
knowingly possesses any visual or printed matter 
depicting a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct 
as defined in RCW 9.68A.011(4) (f) or (g).3 

Here, it is uncontested that defendant had nude pictures of AS on 

his phone. The pictures depict the unclothed pubic area and 

unclothed breasts of AS when she was ten year old or younger. 

Roberts observed defendant move nude pictures of AS from the 

"Messing/Stuff' folder to a new file defendant created and labeled 

"iNC" in the "Messaging/Lifestyle folder on his phone. EX 1-8; RP 

104, 167, 194, 205, 372-374, 380-381, 395-403, 498-501. Clearly, 

defendant knew the nude pictures of AS were on his phone. 

3 RCW 9.68A.011 (4)(9) definition of "sexually explicit conduct" is not at issue in 
this case. 
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RCW 9.68A.011 (4) provides the definition for seven 

categories of sexually explicit conduct. The definition applicable in 

the present case is: 

Depiction of the genitals or unclothed pubic or rectal 
areas of any minor, or the unclothed breast of a 
female minor, for the purpose of sexual stimulation of 
the viewer. For the purposes of this subsection (4)(f), 
it is not necessary that the minor know that he or she 
is participating in the described conduct, or any 
aspect of it [.] 

RCW 9.68A.011 (4)(f). "The plain meaning of this language shows 

that the legislature intended to extend criminal liability to those who 

possess depictions made by secretly recording minors without their 

knowledge." State v. Powell, 181 Wn. App. 716, __ , 326 P.3d 

859,865 (2014) review denied, __ Wn.2d __ , __ P.3d __ , 

2014 WL 5094194 (Wash. Oct. 8,2014). The nude pictures of AS 

on defendant's phone were taken by Ocheltree while AS was 

showering. AS did not know that Ocheltree was photographing her 

naked in the shower. Ocheltree did not ask permission to take 

pictures of AS in the shower. Ocheltree did not ask permission to 

send the pictures to defendant. EX 1-8; RP 172, 180, 204-205, 

207,220,500-502. 

Further, the statute requires that the photographer must 

have the "purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer" when 
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creating the depiction of the minor. Powell, 326 P.3d at 865. Here, 

Ocheltree took the nude pictures of AS and sent those pictures to 

defendant. Ocheltree was involved in an open sexual relationship 

with defendant and had previously sent sexual pictures of herself to 

defendant. Defendant stored the nude images of AS on his phone 

in a file with other sexual images. RP 496-497, 510-512. Viewing 

the facts and all reasonable inferences from those facts in the light 

most favorable to the State, supports the conclusion that 

Ocheltree's purpose in creating the nude images of AS showering 

was the sexual stimulation of defendant. 

3. A Rational Trier Of Fact Could Find The Essential Elements 
Of The Crime Beyond A Reasonable Doubt. 

Based on the evidence presented, a rational trier of fact 

could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that, on or about April 

26, 2012, defendant knowingly possessed depiction of the genitals 

or unclothed pubic or rectal areas of any minor, or the unclothed 

breast of a female minor, for the purpose of sexual stimulation of 

the viewer. Sufficient evidence was presented to show all the 

elements of second degree possession of depictions of a minor 

engaged in sexually explicit conduct. 
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B. OTHER PHOTOGRAPHS DEFENDANT POSSESSED ON HIS 
PHONE AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE WERE PROPERLY 
ADMITTED UNDER THE RULES OF EVIDENCE. 

Defendant claims that the trial court improperly admitted 

sexually explicit or nude images of adults and images of clothed 

children found on defendant's phone, citing exhibits 13, 13A, 17-19, 

21, 23, 37-38, and 44. Defendant fails to acknowledge that exhibits 

19 and 44 were admitted without objection from defense. RP 105, 

113, 201, 323, 388, 404. Because defendant waived any objection 

to the admission of exhibits 19 and 44 it unnecessary for the court 

to address the question of their admissibility. State v. Valladares, 

99 Wn.2d 663, 672, 664 P.2d 508 (1983); State v. Rice, 24 Wn. 

App. 562, 564, 603 P.2d 835 (1979). Defendant's challenge is 

based on the Rules of Evidence. He does not claim a "manifest 

error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a}; State v. O'Hara, 

167 Wn.2d 91, 98-105, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). 

Defendant argues that the exhibits were irrelevant to the 

elements of the crime charged and was therefore irrelevant at trial. 

Brief of Appellant 3, 26-28. However, the record shows that the 

trial court properly determined the evidence was relevant and 

probative, and that its probative value outweighed its prejudicial 

effect. 
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1. Evidence Rules 401, 402 And 403. 

Admissibility of evidence generally is within the sound 

discretion of the trial court. State v. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d 904, 913, 

16 P.3d 626 (2001). The trial court has wide discretion in 

determining whether evidence concerning a criminal defendant's 

constitutionally protected behavior is relevant and admissible. 

State v. Kendrick, 47 Wn. App. 620, 626-628, 736 P.2d 1079 

(1987). The trial court's decision will not be reversed absent an 

abuse of discretion, which occurs only when no reasonable person 

would take the view adopted by the trial court. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d 

at 913. 

Evidence is relevant when it has "any tendency to make the 

existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of 

the action more probable or less probable than it would be without 

the evidence." ER 401 . In addition, a fact bearing on the credibility 

or probative value of other evidence is relevant. State v. Rice, 48 

Wn. App. 7,12,737 P.2d 726 (1987). Relevant evidence need only 

make the existence or nonexistence of a material fact "more or less 

likely." ER 401; State v. Israel, 113 Wn. App. 243, 267, 54 P.3d 

1218 (2002). Relevant evidence is generally admissible. ER 402. 

The trial court is generally the proper court to weigh the relevance 
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of evidence. State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 176, 163 P.3d 

786 (2007). "Once a court has determined that evidence is 

relevant, the court must weigh any prejudice the evidence will have 

against its probative effect." ER 403; State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 

358, 361,655 P.2d 697 (1982); Israel, 113 Wn. App. at 268. 

In the present case, over 12,000 images were found on 

defendant's phone. RP 411. The State selected a few of the 

images.4 The parties discussed the admission of those images at 

length with the trial court. The trial court ruled that sixteen of the 

State's fifty-five proposed exhibits containing images from 

defendant's phone were inadmissible.5 CP _ (sub# 49, List of 

Exhibits Filed); RP 104-115, 200-207, 280-305, 310-331, 429-430, 

464-467, 469-486, 507-509. The trial court clearly considered the 

relevance of the exhibits and weighed any potential prejudice 

against the exhibits probative effect. 

Exhibit 13 was an illustrative exhibit used during Roberts 

testimony to explain what was on defendant's computer while he 

4 The State had eighty-four items marked as exhibits. Fifty-five of those marked 
exhibits contained images from defendant's phone. Exhibits 13 and 13A 
contained "screen shots" of defendant's computer captured by Boeing security 
with thumbnail images from defendant phone. The other fifty-three exhibits 
contained single images from defendant's phone. 

5 The State did not offer eight of the proposed exhibits. 
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instant messaging with Melissa.6 This evidence was relevant to 

explain Roberts' investigation and what images defendant was 

viewing. RP 384-386, 402-403. Exhibit 13A was substituted for 

exhibit 13 to remove duplications. RP 294-295, 329-331 , 507-510. 

Defendant's viewing the nude images of AS and moving those 

images to a new folder in his lifestyle file showed both defendant's 

knowledge that he possessed the images and that the purpose of 

the images was his sexual stimulation. RP 292-296,551-557. 

Exhibit 17 is a non-nude image of an adult woman in a 

shower. RP 108-111, 403-404. Exhibits 13A and 17 were relevant 

to defendant's instant messaging with Melissa and necessary to put 

defendant's explanation regarding the messaging in context. When 

Detectives Kowalchyk and De Folo asked about this conversation 

defendant claimed he and Melissa were just chatting. Defendant 

was asked what he meant by "the corruption of innocence doesn't 

hold appeal to you?" He said it meant nothing in particular. When 

the detectives pointed out that the screen shots showed that he 

was looking at the nude images of AS when he made the 

statement, defendant replied, "Right, but there's no intent, there's 

6 Exhibit 13 did not go to the jury. Exhibit 13A was substituted for the illustrative 
exhibit 13. RP 280, 385, 508-509. 
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no malicious anything, it was just a general conversation and yeah, 

my phone was probably plugged in at the time. Defendant did not 

want to say who sent him the nude images of AS because he was 

worried they would get in trouble, but claimed that Melissa knew 

absolutely nothing about the nude images of AS. The detectives 

asked defendant about the part of the instant messaging 

conversation where he and Melissa are talking about shower pics: 

So what pictures were those? What do you say, 
"Okay, but you're not going to appreciate, just saying." 
You say, "Okay." You say, "Shower pics of .. . " and 
you said, "Innocent." What was that a reference to? 

Defendant replied that they were different pictures with a person 

who was not a minor. Defendant claimed that he used the term 

"innocent" for a virgin, and that the shower pictures were of an 

underdeveloped adult male. Defendant claimed that he and 

Melissa were talking about Melissa's interest in younger looking 

men. The detectives asked why defendant said, "Okay, but you're 

not going to appreciate, just saying." Defendant claimed that they 

were discussing totally different pictures of him in a shower with 

another woman. CP _, (sub# 58, Transcript of Exhibit 80) at 16-

18, 22-25, 28-38; EX 81. The evidence of what defendant was 

looking at while messaging with Melissa and the picture of a 
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woman in a shower are relevant because they bear on the 

probative value of defendant's explanation . 

Exhibit 18 is a non-nude image of an adult woman with 

young girl sitting on her lap. The young girl is touching the 

woman's breast with a caption , "Someday Suzie. Someday." This 

image shows defendant's predilection to images portraying children 

in sexual situations. RP 108-111, 404. Exhibit 21 is a non-nude 

image of four young girls. This image shows defendant's 

predilection to images portraying young girls. RP 105-108, 404-

405. The evidence that defendant had these images on his phone 

is relevant because it bears on the probative value of the nude 

images of AS that defendant had on his phone. 

Exhibit 37 is an image of a nude woman kneeling of a bed 

found in the Kat folder in the lifestyle file on defendant's phone. 

Exhibit 38 is an image of a non-nude woman in lingerie kneeling 

found in the Polly folder in the lifestyle file on defendant's phone. 

Defendant had three folders, Kat, Polly, and iNC, for three people 

who held a special places in the Lifestyle section of his phone. He 

stored the nude images of AS in the iNC folder. Exhibits 37 and 38 

were relevant to the significance defendant gave to these images. 

RP 292-293, 296, 322-323, 401-403, 406-407, 553-554, 556-557. 
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The evidence that defendant had three designated folders in the 

lifestyle file on his phone for images of specific females is relevant 

because it bears on the probative value on the purpose of 

Ocheltree taking and sending the images of AS to defendant. 

Exhibit 19 is a photograph of AS that Ocheltree sent to 

defendant. It was admitted without defendant's objection. RP 105, 

201, 304, 404, 495. Exhibit 23 is a non-nude image of Cynthia and 

Tim Ocheltree. It was offered for the jury to put a face to names 

that had been testified about. RP 202, 309. Exhibit 44 is a non

nude image of defendant, Melissa, Ocheltree, and another woman 

with a snowmobile. It was admitted without defendant's objection. 

RP 113, 323, 388. 

Facts tending to establish a party's theory of the case are 

generally found to be relevant. Rice, 48 Wn. App. at 11-12. The 

State's theory was that the nude images of AS were part of the 

"dark desires" defendant and Ocheltree shared involving the 

corruption of an innocent. RP 550-551. The record shows that the 

trial court satisfied the balancing test of ER 403, weighing the 

probative value against the prejudice, and concluded that the 

exhibits were more probative than prejudicial. ER 403; Saltarelli, 

98 Wn.2d at 361. It is not an abuse of discretion when the trial 
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court correctly interprets the rules of evidence. State v. Gresham, 

173 Wn.2d 405, 422, 269 P.3d 207 (2012); Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 

at 174. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting 

exhibits 13, 13A, 17-19,21,23,37-38, and 44. 

C. EXCLUDING DETECTIVE KOWALCHYK'S TESTIMONY, 
ALLOWING HER TO REMAIN AT COUNSEL TABLE, AND 
PROHIBITING HER FROM DISCUSSING THE CASE WITH 
OTHER WITNESSES WERE NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION. 

Defendant claims that the trial court erred by (1) declining to 

dismiss the case for egregious misconduct, (2) allowing the State's 

managing witness to remain at counsel table, and (3) untimely 

instructing the managing witness to not communicate with other 

witnesses. Brief of Appellant 3, 13-17. 

1. There Was No Finding Of Egregious Conduct Prejudicial To 
Defendant. 

Here, when the matter of Detective Kowalchyk's conduct 

was brought to the court's attention, the court conducted a hearing 

taking testimony from Detective Kowalchyk and defense counsel 

regarding what happened. The prosecutor requested the court 
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review defendant's notes in camera to determine the legibility and 

content. 7 Defendant objected and the court denied the State's 

motion.8 RP 250-257. The court found: (1) the courtroom setup 

presents difficulties where both defense and prosecution sit at the 

same table with no separation; (2) defense counsel chose to sit at 

the left end of the table with defendant on her right next to the 

prosecution; (3) Detective Kowalchyk was looking at the defense 

end of the table for a few seconds when there was a note pad in 

front of defendant; (4) defense counsel believed that Detective 

Kowalchyk was scanning the note pad in front of defendant; (5)

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